

Makersmiths Bylaws

As Adopted September 29, 2021



Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
Definitions	5
General Matters	6
Name	6
Non-Profit Purposes	6
Section 1.3 Principal Office	7
Change of Address	7
Other Offices	7
Limitations	7
Political Activities	7
Prohibited Activities	8
Board of Directors	8
Board of Directors	8
Vacancies of Office	9
Meeting Locations	9
Meeting Procedures	10
Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors	10
Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors	10
Special Meetings of the Board of Directors	10
Quorum for Board Meetings	11
Conduct of Meetings	11
Majority Action as Board Action	11
Committees, Site Managers, and Tool Stewards	11
Conflict of Interest	12
Officers	12
Officers	12
Other Officers	13
Officer Titles	13
Officer Terms	13
Members	13



Determination of Membership	13
Eligibility of Membership	13
Membership Types	14
Individual Membership	14
Household Membership	14
Complimentary Membership	15
Honorary Membership	15
Corporate Membership	15
Admission of Members	16
Dues	16
Monthly Membership Dues	16
Dues Payment Date	16
Membership Rights and Privileges	16
Membership Meetings	17
Annual Meeting of the Membership	17
Regular Meetings of the Membership	17
Special Meetings of the Membership	17
Quorum for Meetings of the Members	18
Majority Action as Membership Action	18
Proxies for Meetings of the Membership	18
Non-Liability of Members	19
Indemnification by Corporation of Directors	19
Non-Transferability of Membership	19
Voluntary Resignation	19
Expulsion	19
Insurance for Corporate Agents	20
Indemnification	20
Fiscal Matters	20
General	20
Fiscal Year	21
Purchasing Authority	21
Deposits	21
Checks and Notes	21
Gifts and Donations	21



Material Property	22
Dissolution	22
Corporate Books, Records and Reports	22
Section 9.1 Books, Records and Reports	22
Inspection of Documents	23
Right to Copy and Make Extracts	23
Maintenance of Corporate Books and Records	23
Periodic Report	24
Corporate Seal and Emblem	24
Waiver of Notice	24
Contracts and Instruments	24
Parliamentary Authority and Construction	24
Amendments to Bylaws and Standing Rules	25
Loans to Directors and Officers	25
Bylaws Certificate	26



1. Definitions

- 1.1. **Advisor** Non-voting members of the Board who are appointed by the Board and who will act in an advisory capacity.
- 1.2. **Board of Directors** The elected Makersmiths Board. The Board of Directors may also be referred to as the "Board".
- 1.3. Bookkeeper The Bookkeeper shall prepare and make bank deposits by compiling data, verifying receipts, and sending cash, checks, or other forms of payment. In addition, they may make purchases, pay invoices, and shall make disbursements according to instructions from the Treasurer and the Board. The Bookkeeper is not an Officer of the Corporation.
- 1.4. **Bylaws** The bylaws of Makersmiths as defined in this document.
- 1.5. **Chairperson** The Chairperson is an Officer of the Corporation who shall preside at all meetings and shall exercise and perform such other powers and duties as the Corporation may assign from time to time. The Chairperson is responsible for convening meetings and general oversight of Board activities.
- 1.6. **Director** An elected member of the Board of Directors.
- 1.7. **Guest** Is any Non-Member that visits the space at the invitation of a Member or who is attending a class, course, event or workshop.
- 1.8. **Makersmiths** a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia having its principal office in Leesburg, VA.
- 1.9. **Meeting of the Board of Directors** refers to a meeting of the Makersmiths Board which may be an Annual, Regular or Special Meeting of the Board.
- 1.10. **Meeting of the Membership** A meeting of Members which may be an Annual, Regular or Special Meeting of the Membership.
- 1.11. **Member(s)** Member(s) in good standing of Makersmiths.
- 1.12. **Officer** An officer appointed by the Board.
- 1.13. President The President is an Officer of the Corporation, shall be the general manager of the Corporation, and shall supervise, direct, and manage the Corporation's activities, affairs, and Officers. The President shall preside in the absence of the Chairperson of the Board, or if none, at all meetings.
- 1.14. **Primary Member** The Member who is primarily responsible for a Household or Corporate Membership and determines which Members within those membership types may vote, up to the number of votes allowed by that membership type.
- 1.15. Quorum of Directors Quorum for any Meeting of the Board shall consist of three-fifths of the voting Directors of the Board represented in person, or with consensus, by a secured and authenticated real time medium, provided that access to this medium is available and accessible to all members of the Board.



- 1.16. **Quorum of Members** for any Meeting of the Members shall consist of one-third of the voting Members of the Corporation represented in person, by electronic means (voice or video conference), or by proxy, as defined in the Standing Rules.
- 1.17. Regular Member Refers to a named Member who may have voting rights, and other privileges, restrictions and conditions as specified in the Bylaws and/or Standing Rules.
- 1.18. Secretary The Secretary is an Officer of the Corporation shall ensure that proper notice is given for meetings, is responsible for preparing the agenda, and recording and distributing the minutes of Meetings of the Board of Directors. In the absence of the Secretary, the President shall appoint a person to act as Secretary at any particular meeting.
- 1.19. **Standing Rules** The current Standing Rules of the Corporation as amended from time to time.
- 1.20. **Supporting Member** Refers to a named Member who does not have voting rights but has other rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as specified in the Bylaws and/or Standing Rules.
- 1.21. Treasurer The Treasurer is an Officer of the Corporation and shall be responsible for submitting the annual budget for approval by the Board. The Treasurer shall prepare the monthly financial reports to the Board, receive and make deposits, and direct disbursements. At the end of the term the Treasurer shall deliver to the successor all books, monies, and other property of the Corporation then in his or her possession.

2. General Matters

2.1. Name

2.1.1. The name of this corporation shall be Makersmiths, Inc.

2.2. Non-Profit Purposes

- 2.2.1. The Corporation is organized as a non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Virginia exclusively for one or more of the purposes specified in Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code.
- 2.2.2. Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Bylaws, the Corporation shall not carry on any activities not permitted to be carried on by a corporation exempt from federal income tax under Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or by a corporation, contributions to which are deductible under Section 170 (c) (2) of the Internal Revenue Code.



- 2.2.3. No part of the earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributed to, its Members, Directors, Officers, or other private persons, except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes of the Corporation.
- 2.2.4. The purpose for which the Corporation is formed is to promote:
 - 2.2.4.1. support, and advance technical, scientific, and artistic skills,
 - 2.2.4.2. innovation, and invention through individual and collaborative projects,
 - 2.2.4.3. community building,
 - 2.2.4.4. tool and resource access.
 - 2.2.4.5. education and mentorship,
 - 2.2.4.6. all services as the Board sees fit.
- 2.2.5. Towards this purpose the Corporation shall engage in charitable, scientific, and educational activities within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

2.3. Section 1.3 Principal Office

2.3.1. The principal office of the Corporation is located in Leesburg, VA.

2.4. Change of Address

2.4.1. The designation of the county, city or town of the Corporation's principal office may be changed by the Board by filing a "Statement of Change of Registered Agent and/or Registered Office" with the office of the Secretary of State. Such changes of address shall not be deemed, nor require, an amendment of these Bylaws.

2.5. Other Offices

2.5.1. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places where it is qualified to do business, as its business and activities may require, and the Board may, from time to time, designate.



3. Limitations

3.1. Political Activities

3.1.1. The Corporation has been formed under Virginia Nonstock Corporation Law for the charitable purposes described in Article II of the Articles of Incorporation, and it shall be nonprofit and nonpartisan. No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall consist of carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the Corporation shall not participate in or intervene in any political campaign (including the publishing or distribution of statements) on behalf of, or in opposition to, any candidate for public office.

3.2. Prohibited Activities

3.2.1. The Corporation shall not, except in any insubstantial degree, engage in any activities or exercise any powers that are not in furtherance of the purposes described in Article II of the Articles of Incorporation. The Corporation may not carry on any activity for the profit of its Officers, Directors or other persons or distribute any gains, profits or dividends to its Officers, Directors or other persons as such. Furthermore, nothing in Article II of the Articles of Incorporation shall be construed as allowing the Corporation to engage in any activity not permitted to be carried on (i) by a corporation exempt from federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or (ii) by a corporation, contributions to which are deductible under section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

4. Board of Directors

4.1. Board of Directors

- 4.1.1. The activities and affairs of the Corporation shall be overseen by the Board, subject to the provisions of the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia and any limitations in the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws and the Standing Rules.
- 4.1.2. The Board is charged with (2) two primary duties: the Duty of Care and the Duty of Loyalty



- 4.1.2.1. **Duty of Care** requires Directors to act (1) in good faith; (2) with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and (3) in a manner the director reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Corporation.
- 4.1.2.2. **Duty of Loyalty** requires Directors to pursue the Corporation's best interests. The Duty of Loyalty prohibits Directors from engaging in self-dealing unless there is full disclosure to the board and the transaction is clearly in the corporation's best interest.
- 4.1.3. The Board shall consist of seven (7) elected Directors of the age of majority in the Commonwealth of Virginia, with no limit to the number of appointed Advisors.
- 4.1.4. The Board shall be elected at an Annual Meeting of the Membership by a Quorum of the Members and their proxies to serve a three-year term.

 Directors shall be divided into three classes to achieve a staggered rotation of terms.
- 4.1.5. The Board will appoint all Officers and Advisors.
- 4.1.6. The Board shall not be required to accept the advice of Advisors.
- 4.1.7. Directors shall not be personally liable for the debts, liabilities, or other obligations of the Corporation.
- 4.1.8. The Directors shall be indemnified by the Corporation to the fullest extent permissible under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.
- 4.1.9. The Directors' term of office shall begin immediately following the Annual Meeting of the Membership at which they are elected.

4.2. Vacancies of Office

- 4.2.1. A Director may resign by giving written notice to any other Director.
- 4.2.2. A Director is also deemed to have resigned or is required to resign under the following provisions:
 - 4.2.2.1. Being absent from three Board meetings consecutively without the approval of the Board. The minutes should note any excused absences.
 - 4.2.2.2. Having failed to uphold a signed statement of intent;
 - 4.2.2.3. Removal by resolution in a Regular, Special or Annual Meeting of the Membership, in which two thirds of the voting Members are represented in person or by proxy;
 - 4.2.2.4. Becoming of unsound mind; or
 - 4.2.2.5. Death.



4.2.3. A Director may take a "leave of absence" for up to six months with approval of a majority of the Board. The Director must submit a request in writing with a justification for the leave. Examples of acceptable reasons for leave include but are not limited to: maternity, care for family members and personal health.

4.3. Meeting Locations

4.3.1. Meetings of the Board of Directors and Meetings of the Membership can be held at the Leesburg space, Purcellville space, or virtually.

4.4. Meeting Procedures

- 4.4.1. Makersmiths will use the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order as the framework for running Meetings of the Board of Directors and in compliance with Makersmiths Bylaws for meetings.
- 4.4.2. For a motion to be considered at a Meeting of the Board of Directors, the motion and any supporting documentation must be submitted and made available to the Directors at least 7 days prior to the Meeting, except where two thirds of Directors vote to waive this requirement.
- 4.4.3. Motions at Meetings of the Board of Directors shall only be brought by a Director.

4.5. Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors

4.5.1. The Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors will be held on the last Wednesday of June, beginning at 7:00PM or as otherwise determined by the Board of Directors. The meeting details will be communicated to Directors, Officers, and Members at least seven days in advance.

4.6. Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors

4.6.1. Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors will be held on the last Wednesday of each calendar month, beginning at 7:00PM or as otherwise determined by the Board of Directors. The meeting details will be communicated to Directors, Officers, and Members at least seven days in advance.



4.7. Special Meetings of the Board of Directors

- 4.7.1. The Board may hold Special Meetings of the Board as needed at a time and place set by resolution of the Board.
- 4.7.2. Special Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the President and any other Director, or by any two Directors.
- 4.7.3. Notice of Special Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given to each Director at least seven (7) days prior to the meeting by any other Officer or Director. Such notice shall be given by e-mail and Slack channel post, and shall state the place, date and time of the meeting and the matters proposed to be acted upon at the meeting.
- 4.7.4. Notice requirement for a particular Special Meeting of the Board of Directors can be waived if all Directors are convened and are present at the start of a Special Meeting of the Board of Directors, and the Directors unanimously vote to waive such notification. Otherwise, no business shall be considered by the Board and the only motion which the Chairperson shall entertain at such meeting is a motion to adjourn.

4.8. Quorum for Board Meetings

4.8.1. Except as otherwise provided by these Bylaws or provisions of law, no business shall be considered by the Board at any meeting at which the required Quorum is not available, and the only motion which the Chairperson shall entertain at such meeting is a motion to adjourn.

4.9. Conduct of Meetings

- 4.9.1. Meetings of the Board shall be presided over by the Chairperson of the Board.
- 4.9.2. The Secretary of the Board will record and provide meeting minutes of the Board.

4.10. Majority Action as Board Action

4.10.1. Every act done or decision made by a majority of the Directors available at a meeting duly held at which a Quorum is present is an act of the Board, unless the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or provisions of law require a greater percentage or different voting rules for approval of an action by the Board.



4.11. Committees, Site Managers, and Tool Stewards

- 4.11.1. The Corporation shall have such committees as may from time to time be designated by the Board.
 - 4.11.1.1. Committees may consist of persons who are not Members and shall act in an advisory capacity.
 - 4.11.1.2. Each committee may adopt rules for its own governance not inconsistent with these Bylaws, the Standing Rules, or with guidelines given by the Board.
 - 4.11.1.3. Each committee will have a chairperson, appointed by the Board.
- 4.11.2. At any Meeting of the Board, the Board by majority vote, may identify a site manager (or small group to be designated as site managers).
 - 4.11.2.1. Site managers will be responsible for overall operation of a physical site and
 - 4.11.2.2. Shall coordinate activities for use of space within the site and control the general, not project or committee specific, budgetary spending allocated to that site.
- 4.11.3. At any Meeting of the Board, the Directors by majority vote, may identify tool stewards.
 - 4.11.3.1. Tool stewards shall be individuals with in-depth knowledge of specific tools or machines,
 - 4.11.3.2. Shall coordinate maintenance of that tool within the allocated budget for that tool, and
 - 4.11.3.3. Shall be authorized to teach, approve additional instructors and authorize Members for access to and use of those machines.
- 4.11.4. In cases of ambiguity, contention or conflict regarding budgets, use of tools, or location of tools, the matter should be referred to the President for resolution.

4.12. Conflict of Interest

4.12.1. Any Director who has a financial, personal, or official interest in, or conflict (or appearance of a conflict) with any matter pending before the Board, of such nature that it prevents or may prevent that Director from acting on the matter in an impartial manner, will present full disclosure of that interest and will offer to the Board to voluntarily recuse themselves on request of a majority of the Directors from discussion and voting on said item.



5. Officers

5.1. Officers

- 5.1.1. The Board may appoint by majority resolution such Officers as the Board deems necessary to perform regular management of the Corporation.
- 5.1.2. The President shall not also be appointed as Secretary or Treasurer.
- 5.1.3. The duties performed by Officers will be determined by the Board.
- 5.1.4. Any Member in good standing shall be qualified to be appointed as the President, Secretary, Treasurer or Chairperson of the Corporation.
- 5.1.5. The Treasurer shall not also be appointed as Bookkeeper (non-Officer).

5.2. Other Officers

5.2.1. The Board may appoint by resolution any number of other Officers deemed necessary to conduct the business and affairs of the Corporation.

5.3. Officer Titles

- 5.3.1. The Board may name or rename the position held by any Officer.
- 5.3.2. Any new title may not:
 - 5.3.2.1. Convey confusion with the responsibilities of the office; or
 - 5.3.2.2. Convey a conflict with other offices held.

5.4. Officer Terms

- 5.4.1. Officers shall hold office until:
 - 5.4.1.1. The next Annual Meeting of the Board; or
 - 5.4.1.2. The position is resigned; or
 - 5.4.1.3. The Officer is dismissed by the Board.
- 5.4.2. Resignations are effective upon fulfillment of all obligations to the date of withdrawal and should be given in writing to the Board.
- 5.4.3. Dismissals are effective immediately.



6. Members

6.1. Determination of Membership

- 6.1.1. The Corporation shall have only Supporting Member and Regular Member classes.
- 6.1.2. Supporting Members are not permitted to vote or otherwise influence the decision making process of the Corporation.
- 6.1.3. No Member shall hold more than one membership in the Corporation.

6.2. Eligibility of Membership

- 6.2.1. Membership shall be open to any natural person not suspended or expelled from the Corporation under the terms of these Bylaws, or otherwise disqualified by the terms of these Bylaws.
- 6.2.2. Individual Membership is limited to adults. Individual Members may bring their minor children as one of their allotted Guests.
- 6.2.3. The Primary Member of a Household Membership is limited to adults. Minors may be Members under a Household Membership and must be clearly identified as minors in the Member's record.
- 6.2.4. Minor Members may have restrictions on access to Makersmiths resources and any digital platforms.

6.3. Membership Types

6.3.1. Individual Membership

- 6.3.1.1. Receives invitations to our events.
- 6.3.1.2. Receives our periodic Newsletters keeping you informed of what's happening here, new projects and events.
- 6.3.1.3. Special Discounts on classes, workshops, materials and tool use time such as discounts on use of laser cutter and UV printer.
- 6.3.1.4. Permission to bring up to two (2) Guests who shall remain under the control of the Member. Each Guest is required to have a signed waiver on file. The Member accepts full responsibility for their Guests' actions.
- 6.3.1.5. Use of all our tools (subject to safety training, and any applicable fee requirements)
- 6.3.1.6. Full 24/7 access to all Makersmiths locations.



- 6.3.1.7. Considered Regular Member for Bylaws purposes (one vote per membership).
- 6.3.1.8. Requires a minimum of two volunteer hours per month.
- 6.3.1.9. Access to the Makersmiths facilities to work on projects either on your own or in collaboration with other Members.
- 6.3.1.10. The Individual Membership dues are \$50 per month.

6.3.2. Household Membership

- 6.3.2.1. All of the Individual Member benefits noted above.
- 6.3.2.2. The Household Membership will specify one adult Primary Member who will control the Household Membership. Additional people living at the same address may be added as Members by the Primary Member.
- 6.3.2.3. Considered Regular Members for Bylaws purposes (1 vote per Household Member over 18, with a maximum of two total votes per Household Membership).
- 6.3.2.4. Requires a minimum of two volunteer hours per month per Household Member.
- 6.3.2.5. The Household Membership dues are \$100 per month.

6.3.3. Complimentary Membership

- 6.3.3.1. Limited to a total of five (5) for the organization at any one time.
- 6.3.3.2. Complimentary Memberships may be free or discounted.
- 6.3.3.3. Term = 3 months
- 6.3.3.4. Application is approved by the Board.
- 6.3.3.5. Term is renewable but requires reapplication and approval by the Board at each renewal date.
- 6.3.3.6. The Board is authorized to require volunteer hours, reduced dues, teaching of classes, etc. as a condition of the approval for Complimentary Membership application or renewal of same.
- 6.3.3.7. Full 24/7 access to all Makersmiths locations.
- 6.3.3.8. Access to the Makersmiths facilities to work on projects either on your own or in collaboration with other Members.
- 6.3.3.9. Use of all our tools (subject to safety and training requirements)
- 6.3.3.10. Permission to bring a (1) Guest who shall remain under the control of the Member. The Complimentary Member accepts full responsibility for any of their Guest's actions
- 6.3.3.11. Reduced fees to certain workshops and events (not including the cost of parts, supplies, etc.).
- 6.3.3.12. No voting rights
- 6.3.3.13. Considered Supporting Member for Bylaws purposes.



6.3.4. Honorary Membership

- 6.3.4.1. Limited to a total of 10 for the organization.
- 6.3.4.2. Are just that, Honorary, and are intended for persons in positions like Mayor, Town Council, Member of Congress, high profile community members, etc.
- 6.3.4.3. Term of one year
- 6.3.4.4. No key or access to space
- 6.3.4.5. No voting rights.
- 6.3.4.6. Considered Supporting Member for Bylaws purposes.

6.3.5. Corporate Membership

- 6.3.5.1. Corporations pay \$5K or more for 10 Members.
- 6.3.5.2. All of the same rights and obligations as Individual Membership
- 6.3.5.3. The corporation shall specify one adult Primary Member who will control the Corporate Membership and will communicate the assignment and reassignment of other Members under the Corporate Membership. Additional employees of the corporation may be added as Members by the Primary Member up to the total allowed.
- 6.3.5.4. One vote for the Corporate Membership to be cast by the Primary Member.
- 6.3.5.5. Considered Regular member class for Bylaws purposes.

6.4. Admission of Members

- 6.4.1. An applicant shall be admitted as a Member so long as any applicable dues are paid in full.
- 6.4.2. An applicant shall only be admitted or renewed as a Member after their membership application is approved in accordance with the Standing Rules and by their signature on the Makersmiths standard waiver.

 Members agree to execute and affirm such waiver from time to time as may be required by the Board.
- 6.4.3. Any applicant previously terminated as a Member for good cause requires Board approval to be readmitted.
- 6.4.4. Members will be subject to policies set forth by the Board.



6.5. Dues

6.5.1. Monthly Membership Dues

6.5.1.1. All Regular Members and Supporting Members where required shall pay monthly dues in advance, of such amount and schedule as may be set by the Board.

6.5.2. Dues Payment Date

6.5.2.1. All membership dues shall be payable by the date determined by a Quorum of the Board and specified in the Standing Rules.

6.6. Membership Rights and Privileges

- 6.6.1. Any Member whose dues are current, is not on probation, and who has not resigned, been suspended or has not been expelled shall be considered a Member in good standing.
- 6.6.2. Except as expressly provided in or authorized by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or provisions of law, all Members in good standing shall have the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions as specified in the Standing Rules.
- 6.6.3. Regular Members in good standing shall be entitled to vote in all elections and special voting events as determined by the Board.
- 6.6.4. Regular Members shall have the right at any reasonable time to inspect the physical properties of the Corporation.

6.7. Membership Meetings

6.7.1. Annual Meeting of the Membership

- 6.7.1.1. The Annual Meeting of the Membership will be held on the first Wednesday of June beginning at 7:00PM. The meeting details will be communicated to Directors, Officers, and Members at least seven days in advance.
- 6.7.1.2. An election of the Board class shall occur at least once per calendar year at the Annual Meeting of the Membership where Quorum has been met.
- 6.7.1.3. Election of Director shall be first by nomination, and then by final vote.
- 6.7.1.4. A Director shall not hold a term of office for more than three years without being elected for each term the office is held.



- 6.7.1.5. Each candidate must provide a written notice of interest outlining why they are fit to serve as a Director and disclose any conflicts of interests prior to the election.
- 6.7.1.6. Each Regular Member shall vote for no more than the number of Director positions considered for election and shall vote for no Candidate more than once.
- 6.7.1.7. The candidates to receive the highest number of votes, up to the number of Director positions being voted on shall be considered elected. In the event of a tie that would cause there to be more Directors elected than the number of seats available, a run off election shall be held between the tying candidates.

6.7.2. Regular Meetings of the Membership

- 6.7.2.1. The Regular Meetings of the Membership will be held on the first Wednesday of each calendar month, beginning at 7:30PM. The meeting details will be communicated to Directors, Officers, and Members at least seven days in advance.
- 6.7.2.2. The first 10 minutes of any in-person Membership Meeting will be dedicated to cleaning the space.

6.7.3. Special Meetings of the Membership

- 6.7.3.1. A Special Meeting of the Membership may be called by a majority vote of the Board, or upon written request submitted to the Board by not less than ten (10) percent of Regular Members; such written request is to contain the subject or subjects to be covered. A meeting date shall be set by the Board within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the request and the date of the meeting shall not be set more than forty-five (45) days from receipt of the request unless a specific date is stated in said request.
- 6.7.3.2. Unless otherwise provided by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or provisions of law, notice stating the place, date, time and purpose or purposes for which the Special Meeting of the Membership is called, shall be delivered not less than ten (10) days before the date of the meeting. This notice shall be given to each Regular Member entitled to vote at such meeting by the Boardor the person(s) calling the meeting, and only matters that are contained in this notification shall be considered. Method of delivery shall be reasonable and determined by the Board.
- 6.7.3.3. A notice of any Special Meeting of the Membership in which a Director is to be elected must follow the rules in 6.7.1.



6.7.4. Quorum for Meetings of the Members

6.7.4.1. Except as otherwise provided by provisions of law, no business shall be considered by the members at any meeting at which the required Quorum is not present, and the only motion which the Chairperson shall entertain at such meeting is a motion to adjourn.

6.8. Majority Action as Membership Action

6.8.1. Every act done or decision made by a majority of voting Members present in person or by proxy at a duly held meeting at which a Quorum is present is the act of the Members, unless the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or provisions of law require a greater number.

6.9. Proxies for Meetings of the Membership

- 6.9.1. All proxies must be executed in writing and submitted to the Secretary prior to the meeting.
- 6.9.2. Any Member may hold any number of proxies for the purpose of establishing Quorum.
- 6.9.3. No Member may hold more than five proxies for voting purposes, provided that the candidate(s) or the intentions on any motion to be voted on are clearly stated on the written proxy

6.10. Non-Liability of Members

6.10.1. The Members of the Corporation shall not be personally liable for the debts, liabilities, or obligations of the Corporation.

6.11. Indemnification by Corporation of Directors

6.11.1. The Directors of the Corporation shall be indemnified by the Corporation to the fullest extent permissible under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

6.12. Non-Transferability of Membership

- 6.12.1. No Member may transfer a membership or any right arising therefrom.
- 6.12.2. All Member rights of membership cease upon the Member's death, suspension, or termination.



6.13. Voluntary Resignation

- 6.13.1. A Member may withdraw from membership by providing documented notice of resignation to an Officer, Director, or nominated representative of the Corporation.
- 6.13.2. All rights, benefits, privileges, and the interests of a Member in the Corporation cease on termination of membership.
- 6.13.3. Resignations are effective upon fulfillment of all obligations to the date of withdrawal.

6.14. Termination of Membership

- 6.14.1. A membership shall be suspended if the Member fails to pay dues, fees, or other assessments within 14 days after they are due and payable.
- 6.14.2. A membership shall terminate if any of the following events happen:
 - 6.14.2.1. The Member resigns by providing notice in writing;
 - 6.14.2.2. The membership term expires and is not renewed;
 - 6.14.2.3. The Member fails to pay dues, fees, or assessments within 30 days after they are due and payable;
 - 6.14.2.4. An event occurs that renders the Member ineligible for membership, or the Member is no longer able to satisfy membership qualifications, or does not maintain the responsibilities of membership;
 - 6.14.2.5. The Board makes a good faith determination that the Member has materially failed to observe the Bylaws and Standing Rules, or has engaged in conduct prejudicial to Makersmiths purposes and interests. In the event that the Board terminates a membership, the Member shall return any keys issued to them and all other Makersmiths property immediately.
- 6.14.3. Any Member expelled from the Corporation shall forfeit any and all dues already paid.
- 6.14.4. All rights of a Member in the Corporation shall cease on termination of membership as herein provided.

7. Insurance for Corporate Agents

7.1. Except as may be otherwise provided under provisions of law, the Board may by resolution authorize the purchase and maintenance of insurance on behalf of any



agent of the corporation (including Directors, Officers, Members, employees or other agents of the corporation) against liabilities asserted against or incurred by the agent in such capacity or arising out of the agent's status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify the agent against such liability under the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or provisions of law.

8. Indemnification

- 8.1. By resolution of the Board, the Corporation may indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any potential, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, by reason of the fact that they are or were a Director, Officer, Member, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses, including attorney's fees, judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and necessarily incurred by them in connection with such action, suit or proceeding so long as they acted in good faith and in a manner they reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interest of the Corporation, with reasonable cause to believe their conduct was not unlawful, and they were not guilty of negligence or misconduct in respect of the matter in which indemnity is sought.
- 8.2. The termination of any action, suit, or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent will not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which they reasonably believed to be in, or not to be opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and with respect to any criminal proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that their conduct was not unlawful.

9. Fiscal Matters

9.1. General

9.1.1. The Corporation may use its funds only to accomplish the purposes specified by the Bylaws and Standing Rules.

9.2. Fiscal Year

9.2.1. The fiscal year of the Corporation commences on the first day of January and ends on the last day of December.



9.3. Purchasing Authority

9.3.1. No Member of the Corporation shall be authorized to make purchases in the name of the corporation except as directed by the Board.

9.4. Deposits

9.4.1. All funds of the Corporation will be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board may select.

9.5. Checks and Notes

9.5.1. Except as otherwise specifically determined by resolution of the Board, these Bylaws or as otherwise required by law, checks, drafts, promissory notes, orders for the payment of money, and other evidence of indebtedness of the corporation shall be approved by the Treasurer and signed by the Bookkeeper. The Treasurer shall be permitted to approve, and the Bookkeeper to pay for, routine, regularly occurring expenses as approved by the Board.

9.6. Gifts and Donations

- 9.6.1. The Board, the President, or as delegated by the Board, may accept or reject on behalf of the Corporation any gift, donation, bequest, or device for the nonprofit purposes of this Corporation.
- 9.6.2. The Treasurer will be notified of any donations and may issue a receipt of donation upon request.
- 9.6.3. Donations not explicitly approved may be rejected. Rejected donations may be disposed of as the appropriate space's Facility Committee Chairperson sees fit at the expense of the donor.
- 9.6.4. Donations of motor vehicles must have approval by the Board.

9.7. Material Property

9.7.1. Material property that may be obtained from time to time by the Corporation in its name will be controlled and the responsibility of the Corporation President or other personnel so designated by the Board.



- 9.7.2. All such material property shall be used only for the benefit of the Corporation and its Members.
- 9.7.3. No material property with an aggregate value of more than \$1,000 of the Corporation may be given to, loaned or placed in the possession of a Member or third party without the expressed permission of the Board.
- 9.7.4. No material property with an aggregate value of less than or equal to \$1,000 of the Corporation may be given to, loaned or placed in the possession of a Member or third party without the expressed permission of room or tool steward responsible for the tool.
- 9.7.5. In cases of ambiguity, contention or conflict regarding location of material property, the matter should be referred to the President for resolution.

9.8. Dissolution

- 9.8.1. In the event of the liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, no Director, Officer or Member will be entitled to any distribution or division of its remaining property nor its proceeds.
- 9.8.2. The balance of all money and other property received by the Corporation from any source, after the payment of all debts and obligation of the Corporation, will be distributed in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation and Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations thereunder as the same now exist or as they be hereafter amended from time to time.

10. Corporate Books, Records and Reports

10.1. Section 9.1 Books, Records and Reports

- 10.1.1. The Corporation shall keep all corporate books, records and reports as required by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.
- 10.1.2. The Corporation's books, records and reports shall be kept on a shared cloud drive, the account for which must be under the control of the Corporation.

10.2. Inspection of Documents

10.2.1. The Corporation shall make all books and records of the Corporation available for inspection by any interested party for any proper purpose at



- any reasonable time by submitting a written request to the Secretary of the Corporation.
- 10.2.2. The request shall state the purpose for which the inspection is requested.
- 10.2.3. The books and records shall be made available for inspection within a reasonable time after the request is received by the Secretary.
- 10.2.4. Inspection of corporate books or records for purposes of soliciting business shall not be considered a proper purpose and in no case shall Members' contact information be made available for inspection except by consent of the Member or as required by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or provisions of law.

10.3. Right to Copy and Make Extracts

10.3.1. Any inspection under the provisions of this Article may be made in person or by agent or attorney and the right to inspection shall include the right to copy and make extracts.

10.4. Maintenance of Corporate Books and Records

- 10.4.1. The Corporation shall keep at its principal office:
 - 10.4.1.1. Hyperlinks to Minutes of all Meetings of the Board, Meetings of the Members, committees, indicating the time and place of holding such meetings, whether Annual, Regular or Special, how called, the notice given, and the names of those present, or if a Membership Meeting then the names of the Officers present, the number of members present, and the proceedings thereof;
 - 10.4.1.2. Hyperlinks to adequate and correct books and records of account, including accounts of its properties and business transactions and accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains and losses
 - 10.4.1.3. Hyperlinks to a record of its members indicating their names, addresses, and if applicable, their phone numbers, email addresses and the termination date of any membership; and
 - 10.4.1.4. Hyperlinks to a copy of the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and Standing Rules as amended to date.

10.5. Periodic Report

10.5.1. The Board shall cause any annual or periodic report required under the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or provisions of law to be



prepared and delivered to an office of the state or to the Members of this Corporation, to be so prepared and delivered within the time limits set by law.

11. Corporate Seal and Emblem

- 11.1. The Board may adopt, use, and at will alter, a corporate seal and/or emblem.
- 11.2. Any such seal shall be kept secured by the Secretary of the corporation.
- 11.3. Failure to affix the seal to corporate instruments, however, shall not affect the validity of any such instrument.
- 11.4. The emblem may be used under guidelines established by the Board.

12. Waiver of Notice

12.1. Whenever any notice or notification is required to be given under the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or provisions of law, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, will be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

13. Contracts and Instruments

13.1. The Board may, and must expressly, authorize any Member in good standing, or agent of the corporation to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation.

14. Parliamentary Authority and Construction

- 14.1. Rules provisioned by policies set forth by the Board shall govern the Corporation in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, or any statutes applicable to the Corporation.
- 14.2. If there is any conflict between the provisions of these Bylaws and the Articles of Incorporation of this Corporation, the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation shall govern.
- 14.3. Should any of the provisions of these Bylaws be held unenforceable or invalid for any reason, the remaining provisions of these Bylaws shall be unaffected by such holding.



- 14.4. All references in these Bylaws to the Articles of Incorporation shall be to the Articles of Incorporation of this Corporation as filed with the Commonwealth of Virginia and used to establish the legal existence of the Corporation.
- 14.5. All references in these Bylaws to a section or sections of the Internal Revenue Code shall be to such sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 2003 as amended from time to time, or to corresponding provisions of any future federal tax code.

15. Amendments to Bylaws and Standing Rules

- 15.1. The Board is responsible for proposing and instantiating amendments to the Bylaws and the Standing Rules.
- 15.2. Members in good standing may propose amendments by submitting them in writing, with rationale, to the Secretary for consideration by the Board at its discretion.
- 15.3. Any member in good standing may force consideration of an amendment to the Bylaws or the Standing Rules at a Meeting of the Board upon collecting the signatures of 10 voting members or 10% percent of the voting Members, whichever is larger, in favor of the proposed amendment.
- 15.4. The Bylaws or the Standing Rules may be amended, repealed, or altered in whole or in part by a majority vote at any Meeting of the Membership in which two thirds of the voting Members are represented in person or by proxy.
- 15.5. Notification to Members of any Meeting of the Membership that includes a vote by the Members shall be made at least ten (10) days prior to the scheduled date of the subject vote. Method of delivery shall be reasonable and determined by the Board.

16. Loans to Directors and Officers

16.1. The law of the Commonwealth of Virginia prohibits any loans or advances, other than customary travel advances, to be made by the Corporation to any of its Directors or Officers

17. Bylaws Certificate

The undersigned certifies that he/she is the Secretary of Makersmiths, Inc., a Virginia nonprofit corporation, and that, as such he/she is authorized to execute this certificate on behalf of said Corporation, and further certifies that the foregoing Bylaws, consisting of 26 pages, including this page, constitute the Bylaws of the Corporation as of this date, duly adopted by the



Directors, of the Corporation at their [DATE] regular meeting, as amended from time to time prior to the date hereof.

Dated: [DATE]

[Signature of Secretary]